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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
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March 18, 2004

u?si MEMORANDUM
" NSITIWE
ey SE
ey TO: THE COMMISSION
i
5 THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON~
:g STAFF DIRECTO
(3: ROBERT J. COSTA 7{C,
= DEPUTY STAEF DIRECTO
]
o+ FROM: JOHN D. GIBSO .
E ASSISTANT STAFE/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2003 YEAR
END REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file, or
failed to timely file, the 2003 Year End Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
December 30, 2003, Prior Notice was sent to alt political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the Year End Report was due on January 31,2004,

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report either failed 10 file
the repont, filed the report more than five (5) days afier the due date, or filed the report
mot: than thirty (30) days :‘fter the due date (considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule uf civil money penalties for reports at 11 C.FR. 11143,
these committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the report

provided.



Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts indicated on the

RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20463 SENSITIUE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, March 22, 2004 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, March 25, 2004 _4:00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

Reason To Believe Recommendation — 2003 Year End Report
for the Administrative Fines Program. Memorandum from
the Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis Division dated

March 18, 2004.

SUBJECT:

() 1 approve the recommendation(s)
() i object to the recommendation(s)

} approve the recommendations except those following

()
to which | object {please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

()

[ approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later

than date and time shown above.
SIGNATURE:

DATE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason To Believe Recommendation AF #1094

2003 Year End Report For The
Administrative Fines Program.

L S e

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commigsion, do hereby certify that on March 25, 2004
the Commission decided by a vote of 4-0 to take the

following actions in AF #1094:

1, Find reason to believe that Americans United in
Support of Demccracy and David Semmel, as
Treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be $1,593.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in
the Reports Analysis Pivision's Memorandum dated

March 18, 2004.

Commiggioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, and Toner

voted affirmatively for the decision.

Commissioners Thomas and Weintraub did not vote.

%/w/zé, 2004 , /QM )

Date
of the Commisgsgion

Attest:




AESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION GF CHGH TC2DAVID SEMMEL
AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT OF DEMOCRACY
350 # WUBBARD ST STE 350
CHICAGD JIL  60610-6925

FEDERAL ELECTION CUMMISSION

ALAN 3HGGK
[ 399 € ST NW # 709
¥ WASHINGTCN DC 20463
e
i
a
15
Ia
iy MARCH 29» 2004
4
i DAVID SEFMEL
= AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPIRT OF CEMJICRALY
a 350 WES3T HU43ARD STREETs SLITEZ 350
o CHICAGG IL 60610
3
i C00113015
AF#: 10654

JEAR DAVID SEMMeL:

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT OF 197ie A3 AMENDED ("THE
ACT™), REQUIRES THAT YDUR COMMITTEE FILE A YEAR E€AD REPORT OF
RECZIPTS ANO OISBURSEMENTS EVERY CALENDAR YEAR. THIS REPCRTs
COVERING THE PERICD THROUGR CECEMBER 315Te SHALL BE FILED NO LATER
THAN JANUDARY 315Te 2 UsSels 434{A)e YOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED
OF THE OUE DATE FJR THIS REPCRT. RECORSS AT THE FEDERAL ELECTION
COMMISSICN (™FEC™) INDICATE THAT THIS REPCRT wWAS FILZD G
02/7137200%¢ 13 DAYS LATE.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 TU PERMIT THE FEC TG IMPOSE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES FGR VIGLATIONS GF THE REPORTING REVUIREMENTS
OF 2 UeSele 4340A%e 2 UeSels 437G(AN(4)e ON 0372572004 THE FEC
FOUND THAT THERE IS REASON TO WELIEVE {"™RTB8") THAT AMERICANS UNITEC
IN SUPPORT OF DEMOCRACY ANC YOUe AS TREASURERs YIOLATED 2 UasSeCe
434CA) BY FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPGRT OGN OR BEFURE JANVAKY
315Te OQASED ON THE FEC'S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 1l
CoeFeRe 11le43, THE AMOUNT CF YCUR CIVIL MGNEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT
THE RT3 3TAGE 15 $15393. 17 1S5S DUE 3Y 05370472004 ANO IS JASED aN
THESE FACTUORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: NOT ELECTIOQH SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITYZ $54750

NUM3ER OF DAYS LATE: 13

NUMBER OF PREVIOJUS CIVIL MCNEY PENALTIES ASSES5SEQ: 1

TO PAY ThE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
T3 PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYe SEND Tri ENCLOSZD
REMITTANCE AND YQUR PAYMENT TC THZ FEC AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3.
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WESTERN UNICN COMMERC 1AL SERVICES

UPCN RECEIPT OF YOQUR PAYMENTs THE FcC #ILL SEND YOU A FINAL
DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGEZ ThE RTB FINDING ANDSOR CALCULATES CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINCING ANU/ZOR CALCULATEL CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYy YOU MUST SUBMIT A wRITTEM RISPUNSEs INCLULING THE AF# FOUND
ON PAGE ONZy TG THE FEC*S CFFICE OF AODMINISTRATIVE RcVieds 999 &
S5TREETs NWy WASHINGTOMNy OC 20463. YOUR RESPONSE MUST B8E RcCEIVED
BY 0570472004« YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE MUSY INCLUCE THE REASIN(S) WHY
YJU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTe FINDING AND/CR CALCULATED CIviL MONEY
PENALTY. THE FEC wILL ONLY CONSIDER CAALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A
FACTUAL ERRORy MISCALCULATION UOF THEZ CALCULATEO CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
3Y THE FZCe OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRASRDINARY CIRCUMITANCES THAT
PZRSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HCURS THAT wcRE BEYOND YJQUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTEC YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. VYOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BAS1S SUPPURTING THE REASON(S) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATICON. THE FEC STRUNGLY ENCOURAGES THAT DOCUMENTS
GE SUSMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFICAVITS CR DECLARATIONS. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT 82 CCNSIOEREL EXTRAURDINARY INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED TOs NEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS A{TH VINCORS OR
CONTRACTORSs STAFF ILLNESSe CCAPUTER FAILURES AND SIHILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe L1 CeFeRo 111433032 (12LI11) AND {4).

YJUR FAILURE TQO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A4 TIMELY FASHION JURING THE
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL 33 DEZMZD A WAIVER CF YOUR RIGHT T4
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITICN TO THe DISTRICT CJQURT UNDER 2
UeSels 437Ga 11 CeFeRe 1l1ll.3d.

IF YCOU INTENC TC 3E REPRESEhTEU oY CCUNSELs PLEASE AJVISE THE
QFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIZde YOU SHCULD PROVISEs IN ARITING
THZ NAMEs ADDRESS AND TEZLEPHCNE NUMAER CF YOUR CCUNSEL AWND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL TO RECEIVE NGTIFICATIONS AND COMMUMNICATICANS RELATING TOD THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITICON OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MINEY PENALTY.

IF Y3U DC NCT PAY THE CALCLLATezD CIVIL MCAZY PeEMNALTY QR SUSMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YZU DC NIT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MGONEY PENALTY JR SUDMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEs THE FEC WILL ASSUME THAT THI PRECEDING FACTUAL
ALLEGATICNS ARE TRUZ AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT AMZRICANS
UNITES IN SUPPCRT CF DEMCCRACY AND YJoUse AS TREASURZIRs YIOLATED ¢
Ue5aCa 4#34(A) AND ASSESS « CIVIL MONZY PcNALTY.

UNPAID CIVEL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSZC THRIUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINC REGULATIONS WILL BE SLEBJECY TQ Tui LEBT COILLECTIGN ACT CGF
1932("DCA™)AS AMEWOED BY Tkt CERT COLLECTICN IMPROVEMACNT ALT GF
19959 31 UeSeCe 3701 ET SELe THE FZC MAY TAKEZ ANY AND ALL
APPRIPRIATZ ACTION AUTHCRIZEC AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAs AS AMENDEVs
INCLUDING TRANSFER TG THE LeSe DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FUR
COLLECTIUNe 11 CeFeRe 111045,

THIS MATTER WAS GEMERATEL 3ASED OGN INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC IN THE WORMAL COQURSE GF CARRYING OUT IT3 SUPERVISCRY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 Ua3eCa 43T6EAY(2)e 1T dAILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORCANCE WITH 2 UeSeCe 437G(AML4)IbL) AND 43T7TGLARCL2D0AS UNTIL
1T 15 PLACED ON THt PUBLIC RECURD IN ACCLRDANCE WITH 11 CeFeRa
111.42¢ UNLESS YOU NCTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YGU WI3H THE
fATTER TC 8c MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFGRHATION ON THE FEC®S AJDMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAMg



"WwZSTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES

INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATICNSe IS LOCATED AT THE FEC®S KEBSITE
AWneFECaGCVe IF YJU HAVE CUESTIONS REZGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYe PLEASE CCNTACT ALAN SHOOK IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9534

(PRESS is THEN PRESS 2) UR 12025694-113Ce IF YQU HAVE QUESTIONS

AT

REGARDING THE SUSMISSICN GF A CHALLENuwEs PLEASE CCNTACT THE OFFICE

DFf ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT CUR TOLL FREE NUM3ER 1800)1424-9530
{PRE3S 0s THEN EXTe 1660) CR (202)554-1660.
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AJMINISTRATIVE FINE RZMITTANCE & PAYMENT IASTRUCTIGNS
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IN ACCORDANCE wlTH THE SCHECULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFaRe

e 111e43y THE AMOUNT CF YCUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT3
o $1593 FQR THLE 2003 YEAR-END REPORT.

k PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE wWITH & CHECK OR MCONEY URDER HMADE
F PAYABLE T2 THE FEDERAL ELECTION CJMMISSICH TO Tnt FJULLCOWING AUOR
H FEDERAL ELECTIEN CCHMISSION

PeCs 8CX 952182
35T« LOUULISs MC £3195-2182

1f YCU CHQOQOSE TG SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER

JVERNISHT DELIVERY. PLEASE USE THIS ADORESS:
UaSe BANK - GUVERNMENT LICKILX
FEC #952132
1005 CAONVENTIGN PLAZA
ST« LOUISy A0 63101

THE REMITTAMNCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE LUE dY 05/04/72004« UPON
RECELPT CF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE FZIL wlLL SEND YOU &
FINAL OETERMINATION LEYTER.

PLEASE OETACH AND RETURN ThE PORTION SELLOW wlTH YOUR PAYMENT

A P - v— T A fa . —  —h  — als vk > T et e ke ol e Sy Sl i S o kA S A e Sy S

rOR:  AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT OF DEMCCRACLY
FEC IDd4: COD113019

AFR: 1034

PAYHENT CUE DaTE:z 05370472004

PAYMENT AMOUNT D4LzZ: 31533

IS
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COMMISSICH
SECRETARIAT

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION W EAY 1 A 07

WASHINGTON, 0.C. 20463

May 13, 2004

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON 4
STAFF DIRECTOR /7
ROBERT J. COSTA %K—-
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GBSONaHK
ASSISTANT STAF@DIRECTOR

REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2003 YEAR END REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe {RTB) and assessed proposed civii money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2003 Year End
Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money penalty and
the second list represents those that have not paid. The committees that have not paid
have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission’s RTB finding

to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send 1 final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the

civil noney penalty.

Four committees have filed reports after the RTB finding where the actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penality which is lower than that
assessed at RTB. One of the commitiees, Friends of Roger Kahn Inc. (AF #1087), filed
its amended report disclosing no activity. The committee paid the civil money penalty
assessed at RTB; we will therefore issue a refund of the total fine amount. Another
committee, Cohen for New Hampshire (AF #1089) paid the civil money penalty assessed
at RTB. At the time RTB was found, the Senate office had not yet received the
committee’s filing. According to the Senate office, the committee filed its report on



A E'E’;"E' F‘Er,.f?

A ey e

ot

L S

1h "‘“I‘r' T

. - -

February 2, 2004, but it was not received by the Senate until April 12, 2004 The
committee subsequently filed an amendment disclosing a lower level of activity than
estimated at the time RTB was found. Therefore, we will issue a refund of the difference
between the amount paid and the amount assessed at final determination. The additional

two committees, David Langston for Congress (AF #1092)
each filed reports disclosing a lower level of activity than estimated at the

time RTB was found, thereby reducing each of their fines. The actual level of activity
and the revised civil money penalties are reflected on the attached ists,

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, May 17, 2004 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, May 20. 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

oo

7
;. SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation For The 2003
:j== Year End Report. Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports
e Analysis Division dated May 13, 2004.

h

iﬁ () | approve the recommendation(s)
£
!'Ff {) i object to the recommendation(s)
*2 () | approve the recommendations except those following
el to which [ object {piease insert AF#)
o
i
() | approve the recommendations except those following

in which { abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those foilowing
in which { am recused (please insert AF#)

() I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return bailot no iater
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of }
)
i, Administrative Fines Final Determination ) AF #1094
4 Recommendation For The 2003 Year )
e End Report: Americans United in )
g Support of Democracy and David )
s Semmel, as treasurer. )
1
:g CERTIFICATION
2
g I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
ok certify that on May 20, 2004, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
{u

following actions in AF #1094:

1. Make a final determination that Americans United in Support of
Democracy and David Semmel, as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty of $1,593.

2. Send the appropriate letters, as recommended in the Reports
Analysis Division’s Memorandum dated May 13, 2004.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner and Weintraub

voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

My 21, ookt Doanlins Harria
7 Daté o1 Mary W. Dove
Secretary of the Commission




TERN UNIGON COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MAILILGRAM TOsOAVID SEMNEL
ARERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT QF OEMOCRACY
350 W HUBBARD ST STE 350
CHICAGO IL 60610-6925

FEDERAL ELECTION CGMMISSIGN
ALAN SHOZK .
999 € ST NW # 709

WASHINGTON DC 20463

HAY 24, 2004

DAVIC SEMMEL

AMERICANS UNLITED IN SUPPORT OF DEMOCRACY
350 WEST HUBBARD STREET, SulTc 350
CHICAGO IL 60610

€00113018
AF#z 1094

DEAR CAYID SEMMEL:
ON 0372572004, THE FEDERAL ELECTION CGHMMISSION (*FECY™) FOUND

REASON TO BELIEVE ("™RTB™) THAT AMERICANS UNITED IN SUPPORT QF
DEMQCRACY AND YOUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATEL 2 UeSeCe 434{A) FOR FILING
LATE OR FAILING TO FILE THE 2003 YEAR-ENC REPORT. BY MAILGRAM DATED
03729720049 THE FEC SENT YCU NOTIFICATIGN OF THE RT3 FINDING THAT
INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT TdE RTB STAGE OF 31593
IN ACCORCANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT Ll CeFeRe 1l1llo43s

ON 0570372004y THE FEC RECEJVED PAYMENT COF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE. THEREFORE, THE FEC MADE A FINAL
DETERMINATION ON 0572072004 THAT YDUr, AS TREASURERs AND AMERICANS
UNITED IN SUPPORY COF DEMUCRACY VIOLATED 2 UeSalas 434fAds ASSESSED A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AFCOUNT OF $1593 IN ACCORDANCE wiTH 11 '
CeFeRs 111243, AND VOTED TC CLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PRCVISIONS AT 2 UaSeCe 437G(AII12) NO LONGER'
APPLY ANC THIS MATTER IS NCW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PARTY
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TC 11 CeFeRe 111.42(3)o ALTHOUGH THE
FILE MUST BE PLACEC ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY {30) DAYS
FROM THE DATE OF THE COMMISSIONNOTIFICATION, THIS COULD OCCULR AT
ANYTIME FCOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE CCHMHKISSIONVOTE.

I1F YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTERs PLEASE CONTALT
ALAN SHDOK ON QUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (PRESS ls THEN
PRESS 2) OR (20224694~1130,

.« -

SINCERELY,
BRADLEY Ao SMITH
CHALRMAN



FEC ID# c00113019

’ AFf#: 1094

3 PAYMENT DUE DATE: 05/04/2004
PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $1593
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